STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Circuit Court for the Eighth Judicial Circuit

Frank R Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

App. Case No. 2022-000276

RECEIVED

OCT 21 2022

SC Court of Appeals

Allen L. Murray, Christy Worthy Brown, Michael Adam Brown,..... Appellants,

vs.

Newberry County, South Carolina,..... Respondent.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

s/S. Jahue Moore

S. Jahue Moore, SC Bar #4063
Moore Bradley Myers Law Firm, P.A.
1700 Sunset Boulevard (29169)
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
(803) 796-9160
Jake@mbmlawsc.com
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. DID APPELLANTS MEET THEIR BURDEN OF PROOF SHOWING THAT THE ZONING ORDINANCE IS UNREASONABLE, ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS AND/OR DISCRIMINATORY?**
- 2. DID APPELLANTS MEET THEIR BURDEN OF PROOF TO ESTABLISH THEIR CAUSE OF ACTION FOR ESTOPPEL AGAINST RESPONDENT?**
- 3. DID APPELLANTS MEET THEIR BURDEN OF PROOF TO ESTABLISH THEIR CAUSE OF ACTION FOR INVERSE CONDEMNATION?**
- 4. DID APPELLANTS MEET THEIR BURDEN OF PROOF TO ESTABLISH A PRIOR LAWFUL, NON-CONFORMING USE?**
- 5. DID APPELLANTS ALLEGE FACTS SUFFICIENT TO FORM A CAUSE OF ACTION; THEREFORE THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a county ordinance passed by the Respondent County of Newberry, South Carolina (“Respondent”) which restricts who can house workers on their property in recreational vehicles. The ordinance was designed to restrict the ability to house temporary workers, which at the time would be working at the SCANA/SCE&G power plants. The ordinance does not apply to individuals who utilized a camper or recreational vehicle to stay on property when they were not temporary workers. Appellants Allen L. Murray, Christy Worthy Brown, and Michael Adam Brown (“Appellants”) are all landowners in Newberry County, South Carolina who own/owned land which they planned to use by having temporary workers and others pay to park/keep their campers and recreational vehicles on their property.

Respondent informed Appellants that they could not use their land in this manner as their proposed use of their property (according to the Respondent) violated the county ordinance which forbids temporary workers from using recreational vehicles in Newberry County in the same manner that Newberry County residents could use them. Appellants took (and still take) the position that the County has passed an ordinance which discriminates against one class of people based solely on their occupation. Appellants took the position that the ordinance was passed solely to discriminate against a particular class of people, mainly temporary workers in Newberry County, South Carolina. (Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss, R. pp. 861-865).

Appellants commenced this action against Respondent on or about July 28, 2017. (Complaint filed July 28, 2017; R. pp. 56-59). Appellants’ Complaint sought, among other things, a declaratory judgment against Respondent seeking to declare the ordinance unconstitutional. (Complaint filed July 28, 2017; R. pp. 56-59). Prior to the hearing which forms the basis of the Order on appeal, Appellants filed and served their Amended Complaint and Second Amended Complaint. (Amended Complaint dated November 13, 2017; R. pp. 60-63) (Second Amended Complaint dated September 30, 2020; R. pp. 500-505). This was the operative Complaint at the time of the January 15, 2021, hearing.

Although the Appellants originally requested a jury trial, counsel for the Appellants by email to the Court (Judge William P. Keesley) on January 10, 2019, agreed with the Respondent Newberry County (the "County") that the case should be tried non-jury. At a videoconference hearing before Judge Frank R. Addy, Jr. on January 15, 2021, counsel for the Appellants stated that the Appellants needed no further discovery and that the case was ready for trial. (Transcript of January 15, 2021, Hearing (hereinafter, "1-15-21 Tr."), p. 15, line 25 — p. 16, line 2; R. pp. 881-882). Counsel for both parties agreed, and the Court ordered that the matter would be submitted and decided on written motions and memoranda for final disposition "as to all of Plaintiffs' causes of action." (1-15-21 Tr., p. 27, lines 17-24; R. p. 893) (Form 4 Order by the Court issued and entered January 15, 2021; R. pp. 10-11). Accordingly, the Appellants submitted Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. (R. pp. 861-865). Respondent submitted its Final Dispositive Motions of Defendant Newberry County, South Carolina ("County's Final Motions") with five exhibits and its Memorandum in Support of Final Dispositive Motions of Defendant Newberry County, South Carolina. (R. pp. 536-571). The Respondent's Final Dispositive Motions of Defendant Newberry County, South Carolina sought:

1. For summary judgment affirming the validity of the County's comprehensive zoning ordinance ("the Zoning Ordinance") under the authority of SCRCivP Rule 56 (citations omitted);
2. For summary judgment denying the purported second cause of action alleging estoppel against enforcement of the Zoning Ordinance based on unspecified reliance by Plaintiffs on unspecified representations by County officials under the authority of SCRCivP Rule 56 (citations omitted);
3. For summary judgment denying the purported third case of action alleging inverse condemnation and seeking damages and attorneys' fees under the authority of SCRCivP Rule 56 (citations omitted);
4. For summary judgment denying any claim that a plaintiff had established a lawful, non-conforming use prior to the effectiveness of the Zoning Ordinance and so has a right to continue that use post-effectiveness because (a) with respect to the Plaintiff (Appellant) Christy Worthy Brown, the matter has been fully adjudicated

and final judgment rendered against her in CA No. 2018-CP-36-00558 on December 18, 2019, and that judgment was not appealed so res judicata precludes her raising the issue again here; and (b) with respect to the Plaintiffs (Appellants) Allen Murray and Michael Adam Brown because neither has sought to have any such use recognized and confirmed as compliant with the Zoning Ordinance (citation omitted) and so have failed to exhaust their administrative remedies as required by *Dunbar v. City of Spartanburg*, 266 S.C.113, 221 S.E.2d. 848 (1976); and

5. In the alternative to the foregoing motions for summary judgment, for dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to allege facts rather than conclusions of law (citations omitted).

(Final Dispositive Motions of Defendant Newberry County, South Carolina; R. pp. 572-860).

Neither party submitted nor sought leave to submit any response to the filings of the other party.

On January 27, 2022, Judge Addy issued his order. (Order Granted Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and Dismissal, dated January 27, 2022, R. pp. 15-53). The Court found that each of the County's final motions were granted and summary judgment was entered in favor of the County on each of the Appellants' causes of actions. The Court also granted Respondent's Motion(s) to Dismiss. (Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Judgment and Dismissal dated January 27, 2022; R. pp. 15-53). The case was dismissed with prejudice in its entirety.

On February 4, 2022, Appellants filed a Notice of Motion for Reconsideration of the Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and Dismissal which was served on the Respondent's Counsel on January 27, 2022. (Motion to Reconsider; R. p. 866). The Court denied the Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration on February 8, 2022. (Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration; R. pp. 54-55). Counsel for the Appellants then filed a Notice of Appeal on March 7, 2021, appealing the Orders of the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., signed on January 27, 2022, and February 7, 2022.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case arises out of a county ordinance passed by the County of Newberry on or around September of 2016 which restricts who can house workers on their property in recreational vehicles. (Final Dispositive Motions of Defendant; R. pp. 572-860) (Order dated January 27, 2022; R. pp. 15-53). The ordinance was designed to restrict the ability to house temporary workers, who at the time would be working at the SCANA/SCE&G power plants (often referred to as the VC Summer Nuclear Plant). These workers would come to the facility and work for a period of time during plant shut downs. (Transcript of Record, Page 25, Line 1-25; R. p. 891). The workers, many of whom have families at their permanent residences, are in need of a place to park their RVs and campers during their temporary residence in Newberry County. (Transcript of Record, Page 25, Lines 1-25; R. p. 891).

The ordinance at issue was passed to prohibit this type of use. The ordinance does not apply to individuals who use a camper or recreational vehicle to stay on property when they were not temporary workers. Appellants all own land in Newberry County which they use and planned to use by having temporary workers and others pay to keep their camper or other recreational vehicle on their property. (Summons and Complaint dated July 28, 2017; R. pp. 56-59) (Second Amended Summons and Complaint; R. pp. 500-505). Appellants procured the necessary permits to allow use of their property in this manner. (Transcript of Hearing, Page 13, Lines 4-11; R. p. 879). Appellants invested substantial time and money and effort into making their property suitable for temporary trailers. (Transcript of Hearing, Page 13, Lines 3-4; R. p. 879). In June of 2016 Appellants began using their property to allow temporary workers to park their RVs and campers on their property. This was approximately three (3) months before passage of the ordinance at

issue in this case. The timing of the passage of this ordinance was not, as Appellants believe, a coincidence.

The Respondent has told the Appellants to not use their land in this manner as it violates the county ordinance which forbids temporary workers from using recreational vehicles in Newberry County in the same way that any citizen of Newberry County could use them. (Summons and Complaint dated July 28, 2017; R. pp. 56-59) (Second Amended Summons and Complaint; R. pp. 500-505). The County threatened Appellants with criminal prosecution. (Transcript of Record, Page 13, Lines 11-12; R. p. 879). In fact, Appellant Murray was criminally prosecuted for using/allowing use of the trailers on his property. (Transcript of Hearing, Page 13, Lines 6-11; R. p. 879). In essence the County has passed an ordinance which discriminates against one class of people based solely on their occupation. If an individual wanted to use the property for recreation or hunting, there is no limit on the amount of people who may stay on the property. This ordinance was passed solely to discriminate against a particular class of people, mainly temporary workers in Newberry County, South Carolina.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a grant of summary judgment *de novo* under the same standard as the trial court under Rule 56(c) SCRCF. *Wright v. PRG Real Est. Mgmt., Inc.*, 426 S.C. 202, 212, 826 S.E.2d. 285, 290 (2019); *Woodson v. DLI Properties, LLC*, 406 S.C. 517, 528, 753 S.E. 2d. 428 (2014). Under that standard, summary judgment is proper only, “if, viewing the evidence and inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions and affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the non-moving party is entitled to a Judgment as a matter of law.” *Id.* “(T)he non-moving party is only required to submit a scintilla of evidence

in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment. *Huffman v. Sunshine Recycling LLC*, 426 S.C. 262, 271, 826 S.E.2d. 609, 614 (2019) (quoting *Hancock v. Mid-S. Mgmt.*, 381 S.C. 326, 329-31, 673 S.E.2d. 801, 802-803 (2009). “(We) hold that in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Id.*

ARGUMENTS

I. THE APPELLANTS HAVE MET THEIR BURDEN OF PROOF SHOWING THAT THE ZONING ORDINANCE IS UNREASONABLE, ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS AND/OR DISCRIMINATORY.

The circuit court erred by finding as a matter of law in affirming the zoning ordinance at issue in this case and ruling that the zoning ordinance at issue in this case is reasonable, non-arbitrary, non-capricious, and non-discriminatory. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment as to the Appellants’ claims that the zoning ordinance at issue in this case violated Appellants’ substantive due process and equal protection claims. The ordinance prohibits temporary workers, who are not from the county, from utilizing a parcel of land in a certain manner. On the other hand, a citizen of Newberry County is permitted to use the parcel of land in the same exact way. Essentially, the County has passed a zoning regulation which discriminates against a class of people based upon their occupation and where and how they permanently reside.

The trial court erred in concluding and ruling as a matter of law that the zoning ordinance at issue in this case was not arbitrary or capricious. The authority of a municipality to enact zoning ordinances, restricting the use of privately owned property is found in the police power.” *McMaster v. Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 395 S.C. 499, 505, 719 S.E.2d 660, 663 (2011). “In reviewing substantive due process challenges to municipal ordinances, a court must consider whether the ordinance bears a reasonable relationship to any legitimate interest of government.” *Id.*

“In order to prove a denial of substantive due process, a party must show that he was arbitrarily and capriciously deprived of a cognizable property interest rooted in state law.” *Harbit*, 382 S.C. at 394, 675 S.E.2d at 782. “The State's deprivation of the property interest must fall so far beyond the outer boundaries of legitimate governmental authority that no process could remedy the deficiency.” *Id.*

A legislative body does not deny due process simply because it does not permit a landowner to make the most beneficial use of its property.” *Harbit v. City of Charleston*, 382 S.C. at 394, 675 S.E.2d at 782. “Courts cannot become city planners but can only correct injustices when they are clearly shown to result from municipal action.” *Knowles v. City of Aiken*, 305 S.C. 219, 222, 407 S.E.2d 639, 642 (1991). “In order to successfully assault a city's zoning decision, a citizen must establish that the decision was arbitrary and unreasonable.” *Id.* at 224, 407 S.E.2d at 642. In *Dunes W. Golf Club, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 401 S.C. 280, 737 S.E.2d 601 (2013), the South Carolina Supreme Court outlined what the Plaintiff must show to demonstrate that a zoning ordinance is arbitrary and capricious: “In order to prove a denial of substantive due process, a party must show that he was arbitrarily and capriciously deprived of a cognizable property interest rooted in state law.” *Id.* at 297, 737 S.E.2d at 610. “The State's deprivation of the property interest must fall so far beyond the outer boundaries of legitimate governmental authority that no process could remedy the deficiency.” *Id.*

In addition, the Equal Protection Clause provides “nor [shall any State] deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. Where an alleged equal protection violation does not implicate a suspect class or abridge a fundamental right, the rational basis test is used. *Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 359 S.C. 85, 91, 596 S.E.2d 917, 920 (2004) (“ ‘When social or economic legislation is at issue, the Equal Protection Clause allows

the states wide latitude, and the Constitution presumes that even improvident decisions will eventually be rectified by the democratic processes.’ ” (quoting *City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr.*, 473 U.S. 432, 439–40, 105 S.Ct. 3249, 87 L.Ed.2d 313 (1985))). Under the rational basis test, the Court must determine: 1) whether the law treats similarly situated entities differently; 2) if so, whether the legislative body has a rational basis for the disparate treatment; and 3) whether the disparate treatment bears a rational relationship to a legitimate government purpose. *Ed Robinson Laundry & Dry Cleaning, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Rev.*, 356 S.C. 120, 124, 588 S.E.2d 97, 99 (2003).

A zoning ordinance is contrary to the Constitution if it is “aimed at transients.” *Village of Belle Terre v. Borass*, 416 U.S. 1 (1974). An ordinance aimed at a specific class of people is illegal. *Shapiro v. Thompson*, 394 U.S.618 (1969). The application of this zoning ordinance is discriminatory against works at the nuclear power plant. There is simply no reason for this discrimination.

The ordinance imposes at least nine restrictions on the use of recreational vehicles as temporary accommodations. The most significant and burdensome of these require that the land parcel be located in R-2 rural district; that the property be a minimum of 10 acres in size; the maximum of five vehicles be placed on any given parcel, even if that parcel is larger than 10 acres; and that each recreational vehicle must be connected to separate agency approved water, sewer and electrical services.

Zoning ordinances must be made with reasonable consideration of various specific and typical purposes which underlie zoning, as are enumerated in S.C. Code Ann. §§ 6-29-710(A)(1)-(8) and 6-29-720. Among these specific purposes is “to regulate the density and distribution of populations and the uses of buildings, structures and land for trade, industry, residence, recreation,

agriculture, forestry, conservation, airports and approaches thereto, water supply, sanitation, protection against floods, public activities, and other purposes”. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-710(A)(5).

More generally, “[z]oning ordinances must be for the general purposes of guiding development in accordance with existing and future needs and promoting the public health, safety, morals, convenience, order, appearance, prosperity, and general welfare”. *Id.* § 6-29-710(A).

Assuming, as is the case with the recreational vehicles on the Appellants’ property, that the vehicles are in compliance with all other governmental regulations, it is not apparent that the new ordinance serves any of the commonly accepted purposes for zoning ordinances. In particular, the requirement of having at least 10 acres, that is, 2 acres for each of the maximum of five vehicles allowed, is grossly excessive for any consideration having to do with density of uses and avoiding crowdedness. It is also impractical, unnecessary, and unduly costly to require that each recreational vehicle have its own separate services for water, sewer, and electricity. In combination, these and the other restrictions approach the prohibition of an otherwise lawful use, situated in a rural area where many of the usual considerations prompting zoning restrictions are not present.

The zoning power must be exercised reasonably and not arbitrarily, and zoning regulation is legal or valid only when it is reasonable. *Byrd v. City of North Augusta*, 261 S.C. 591, 201 S.E.2d 744 (1974). The validity of a particular zoning ordinance must be considered not in the abstract but in connection with the locality and surrounding circumstances. *McMaster v. Columbia Bd. Of Zoning Appeals*, 395 S.C. 499, S.E.2d 660 (2011). The recreational vehicle ordinance in this case is invalid when considered in light of the nature of the affected locality, including the client’s property, and all of the surrounding circumstances. Among these surrounding circumstances are the facts that there is a clear need for such temporary housing for workers at the

nearby plant and that the recreational vehicles on the property of the Appellants and other similar properties are of good quality and are kept in good condition. There are neither aesthetic nor other justifications for the onerous restrictions on this land use.

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