THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Sep 06 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000276

C.A. No. 2017-CP-36-00385

---

Allen L. Murray, Christy Worthy Brown, Michael Adam Brown,..... Appellants,

v.

Newberry County, South Carolina,.....Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Steve A. Matthews  
**HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.**  
South Carolina Bar Number 3689  
P.O. Box 11889  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1889  
803.540.7827  
[smatthews@hsblawfirm.com](mailto:smatthews@hsblawfirm.com)

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

---

<sup>25</sup> The Zoning Ordinance allows “parking or recreational use of recreational vehicles.” Zoning Ordinance, § 153.123(B). It does not allow occupancy as a place of residence, nor does it allow renting space to a recreational vehicle for use as a place of residence. The allowed “parking or recreational use” is subject to the requirement “that no occupancy or use of such vehicle rise to the level of permanent occupancy or use, and that any use remains temporary in nature.” Zoning Ordinance, § 153.123(C) [*emphasis added*]; see also Zoning Ordinance, § 153.123(G)(1), reiterating the “temporary” requirement. For those purposes, “temporary” requires, among other things, that there can be “no permanent connection to electric power for the RV” (which out-of-

for long-term living quarters, by himself or by anyone else; nor may he make commercial use of the property by renting space out to others for placing their RVs for residential or non-residential use.

The one specific allowance of commercially leasing land for siting RVs on R2 districts for living quarters that was added by the Zoning Ordinance (§ 153.123(H)), if anything, discriminates in favor of workers, as it is solely to allow “temporary accommodations for workers who will be working for a period of time in or near the County, but do not intend to permanently relocate to the area.” *Id.* Residents and non-workers cannot make use of this new feature.

Because the Appellants have the burden to prove the invalidity of a zoning ordinance by clear and convincing evidence, their failure to substantiate their claim that other, non-workers can use the land in a way that workers cannot by specifying the permitting ordinance provisions is fatal to their claim. (That failure by the Appellants is also understandable, because there are no such provisions in the Zoning Ordinance.)

In addition to actually enlarging the options available to workers temporarily in the County’s vicinity, the Zoning Ordinance, it is important to note, is not directed at the workers. Rather, it is directed at what use the landowner can make of the property. Simply because landowners with fewer than 10 acres cannot rent to them does not mean that the workers themselves are left without other options for accommodation in the County. The January 27 Order itemized a number of other possibilities in its footnote 26. [Rec. pp. \_\_\_\_]

---

County workers would have) and that “the RV may not be used as a fixed place of abode” (which the out-of-County workers would be doing). In other words, whether one is hunting, bird-watching, running a moonshine still, or enjoying a South Carolina version of Thoreau’s life on Walden Pond, one cannot, in R2 areas, rent space for and/or live in an RV on more lenient terms than can these Appellants or any out-of-County workers. Simply put, there is no discrimination.

Finally with regard to the discrimination claim (and, again, incorporating by reference the full analysis of this issue in the January 27 Order), it is important to note that, in the case relied upon by the Appellants for the proposition that a zoning ordinance “aimed at transients” is impermissible (Vill. of Belle Terre v. Boraas, 416 U.S. 1 (1974), cited at App.Br., p. 9), the United States Supreme Court in fact upheld a zoning ordinance that disproportionately and adversely affected transient students.<sup>26</sup> And here, as noted above, transients are not discriminated against – they, in fact, can rent spaces for RVs where County residents cannot.

- (c) Appellants contend that the alleged discrimination does not adequately serve a governmental purpose.

It is first important to note that, in order to survive due process and equal protection analysis, the Zoning Ordinance must, as the January 27 Order explains, show only a rational relationship to a proper governmental purpose. One of the valid purposes (and the only one that the Appellants attack) relates to density.

The Appellants argue:

- “[I]t is not apparent that the new ordinance serves any of the commonly accepted purposes for zoning ordinances. In particular, the requirement of having at least 10 acres, that is, 2 acres for each of the maximum of five vehicles allowed, is grossly excessive for any consideration having to do with density of uses and avoiding crowdedness.” [*App.Br.*, p. 10]

---

<sup>26</sup> Vill. of Belle Terre v. Boraas, 416 U.S. 1 (1974), upheld a zoning restriction on the number of unrelated (but not the number of related) persons who could occupy a housing unit. Rejecting numerous claims of protected status, including arguments like ones made by the Appellants here that the restriction infringed on the right to travel or to migrate freely, the United States Supreme Court noted that it was permissible for a local government, through a zoning law, to address the issues where “[m]ore people occupy a given space; more cars rather continuously pass by; more cars are parked; noise travels with crowds. A quiet space where yards are wide, people few, and motor vehicles restricted are legitimate guidelines in a land-use project addressed to family needs.” *Id.*, 416 U.S. at 9.

- “[T]he recreational vehicle ordinance in the instance [*sic*] case lacks any rational relationship, [*sic; to?*] promotion of health, safety, morals or general welfare of the community.” [*App.Br., p. 12*]
- “The purposes of the zoning ordinance, as provided by the County are: lessening congestion in streets, fire safety, prevention of overcrowding, and avoiding undue concentration of population.<sup>27</sup> Appellants are zoned in a R2 classification, which is designated for ‘low density residential uses.’ While the stated purposes are perfect for a high density urban setting, Appellants live on a parcel of land with few neighbors. Adding recreational vehicles to their land, which Appellants invested money with the intent of doing so, will not overly congest the streets, will not heighten the risk of fire safety, will not overcrowd the area, and will not provide for an undue concentration of the population. [*App.Br., p. 12*]

The Zoning Act (in particular, S.C. Code of Laws §§ 6-29-710(A)(2) and (5), and - 720(A)(3) specifically authorizes, indeed directs, local governments to consider density issues when adopting zoning ordinances. Contrary to the view stated in the third point quoted from the Appellants’ Initial Brief above, density and related considerations are proper throughout a zoning ordinance and not just for those portions that relate to a “high density urban setting.” A zoning ordinance is, after all, part of the land use plan process for local jurisdictions. S.C. Code of Laws § 6-29-720(A). It takes into account not merely the current status of property usage in the jurisdiction, but also the planned direction and geographic allocation of future property use development within it.

Still looking at the third point, it is again necessary to point out that there is no evidence for the assertions. The Appellants have adduced no evidence regarding the number or placement of neighbors in those areas surrounding their own (unidentified) parcels. (The January 27 Order, at its footnote 24 [Rec. p. \_\_\_], does take judicial notice from records of another case in that Court that the neighboring landowners objected to Mrs. Brown’s use of her property for transient worker

---

<sup>27</sup> This is the Appellants’ paraphrase of the Zoning Ordinance’s stated purpose. The actual statement is on pp. 11 and 12 above.

RVs.) The Appellants have adduced no evidence regarding street congestion either throughout all R2 zones in the County or even in those areas surrounding their own (unidentified) parcels. The Appellants have adduced no evidence regarding fire hazards or available fire protection or the cost of additional fire protection either throughout all R2 zones in the County or even in those areas surrounding their own (unidentified) parcels. The Appellants have adduced no evidence regarding population growth either throughout all R2 zones in the County or even in those areas surrounding their own (unidentified) parcels. In short, the completely unsupported assertions in the Appellants' Initial Brief on this point must, under the law regarding summary judgments, be disregarded. They do not even approach the scintilla of evidence standard, as they are no evidence at all.

In making their argument contesting whether density issues are a rationally-related valid government purpose, the Appellants overlook two basic principles. Both are obvious in the first sentence quoted: “[I]t is not apparent that the new ordinance serves any of the commonly accepted purposes for zoning ordinances.”

First, even if that statement were correct, whether or not the purpose is apparent is irrelevant. The burden of proof – the very onerous burden of proof – is on the Appellants. They must come forward with clear and convincing evidence evidence to show that the Zoning Ordinance is invalid. They may not simply sit back and offer an observation that its validity is not apparent, thus trying to shift the burden of proof to the County.

Second, second-guessing the duly-elected legislative Councilmembers of the County as to whether the distinctions that they drew in the Zoning Ordinance are in the best interest of the County that they represent is beyond a court's limited role:

[T]he municipal governing bodies are better qualified because of their knowledge of the situation to act upon those matters than are the courts, which will not substitute their judgment for that of the legislative body.

Talbot, *supra*, 222 S.C. at 170, 72 S.E.2d at 68.

In sum, the January 27 Order correctly upheld the validity of the Zoning Ordinance for the reasons stated therein and should be affirmed. The Appellants' Initial Brief offers no justification for doing otherwise.

**B.** *The Appellants have not shown (and cannot show) any statement made by the County that would estop the enforcement of the Zoning Ordinance.*

As the Appellants themselves note (App.Br., p. 13), in the rare instances in which estoppel might lie against a local government, one necessary element is “lack of knowledge and of the means of knowledge of the truth.” [*Emphasis added.*] Both the Prior Ordinance and the Zoning Ordinance were matters of public record, publicly available. There was no “lack of means of knowledge” of the content of the Ordinances. See January 27 Order, p. 29 - 30 [Rec. pp. \_\_\_], citing Quail Hill, LLC v. Cty. of Richland, 387 S.C. 223, 692 S.E.2d 499 (2010). Moreover, that content and the meaning of it are matters of law, as to which there can be no estoppel. See January 27 Order, p. 29 [Rec. p. \_\_\_], also citing Quail Hill.

And once again, the Appellants ignore their obligation in the face of a supported motion for summary judgment to come forward with evidence. As noted in the January 27 Order (footnote 29 thereof [Rec. pp. \_\_\_]), Appellants, in their Second Cause of Action, refer to the issuance by the County of unspecified permits and the allowance of recording of unspecified platting as being among the estopping representations. Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 15 [Rec. p. \_\_\_.] (Similarly, in their Initial Brief, the Appellants state that they “received permits to have the recreational vehicles on their land.” App.Br., p. 13.) However, the Appellants do not identify any permits: by whom given, to whom given, allowing what action, when given, for how long effective, what property affected, under what restrictions. Platting relates to the recordation of parcel boundaries and is not relevant to permitted land use. The Appellants also state in their Second Cause of Action that they “have relied upon the zoning maps and zoning ordinances as they existed when they

began planning to use their property for the intended purpose.” Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 17. There is, however, no right (and the Appellants have cited to none) to lock in a zoning regime simply by beginning to plan a particular activity; and the Prior Ordinance, in any event, disallowed their allegedly planned use.

In short, the Appellants have provided no evidence and only the most conclusory allegations that they received and justifiably relied upon any false representations from County officials of factual matters of which they could not have determined the truth, or indeed that they received and relied upon any representations from the County.<sup>28</sup>

In sum, the January 27 Order correctly determined that the County is not estopped from enforcing the Zoning Ordinance against the Appellants for the reasons stated therein and should be affirmed. The Appellants’ Initial Brief offers no justification for doing otherwise.

C. *The Appellants have not shown (and cannot show) that the Zoning Ordinance effects any impermissible taking or inverse condemnation of their property.*

The Appellants assert: “Here, the Appellants have historically used their property to allow temporary workers to rent their land to utilize recreational vehicles.” App.Br., p. 14. This assertion is, again, completely lacking any supporting evidence. The available evidence that is in the publicly available record of which the January 27 Order took judicial notice (Mrs. Brown’s earlier case), demonstrates that at least with regard to the County-Identified Parcel that she owns, there was no such historic, prior, or lawful use of the kind that the Appellants desire. [Rec. pp. \_\_\_\_.] Indeed, there lawfully could not have been such use by any of the Appellants, as such use was prohibited by the Prior Ordinance.

---

<sup>28</sup> The blanket allegations of what “the Appellants received” and what “the Appellants relied upon,” without differentiation from one Appellant to the other are particularly suspect in light of the complete lack of evidence that the Browns and Mr. Murray were in collaboration prior to the filing of this lawsuit.

As noted by the January 27 Order (pp. 32 – 33 [Rec. pp. \_\_\_\_]), there are a large number of profitable uses that the Appellants can make of their property, thus defeating their claim of inverse condemnation.

Moreover, with regard to Appellants Messrs. Murray and Brown, their failure to exhaust administrative remedies by seeking a special exception and/or variance precludes them from making a Takings Claim, as explained by the January 27 Order, p. 37 at footnote 33 [Rec. p. \_\_\_\_], citing Moore v. Sumter Cty. Council, 300 S.C. 270, 272–73, 387 S.E.2d 455, 457 (1990).

In sum, the January 27 Order correctly determined that the Zoning Ordinance did not effect an inverse condemnation of the Appellants’ parcels (whatever those parcels may be) for the reasons stated therein and should be affirmed. The Appellants’ Initial Brief offers no justification for doing otherwise.

**D.** *The Appellants have not shown (and cannot show) any non-conforming use that was lawfully established at the time the Zoning Ordinance was adopted that would allow continuation. Moreover, they are prevented from attempting to make any such showing by the doctrines of res judicata and failure to exhaust remedies.*

As the old song goes, “second verse, same as the first.” The Appellants offer the same contentions of having engaged in their desired use prior to the adoption of the Zoning Ordinance that they made with respect to their inverse condemnation claim; and they offer the same evidence – which is none. To succeed on this claim, they would have to allege that they began such use lawfully prior to June 1, 2016, which was the date of the invocation of the Pending Ordinance Doctrine. (In fact, they allege that they began using their property to allow temporary workers to park their RVs “in June of 2016.” App.Br., p. 5; *emphasis added*.) To make the allegation of lawful prior use, they would also have to allege that they had received a special exception from the BZA, as that was the only way such use would have been lawful under the Prior Ordinance. They make no such allegation of application for or grant of a special exception.

In any event, with respect to Mrs. Brown, her claim in this regard is precluded by *res judicata*, as explained in the January 27 Order, pp. 35 – 36. [Rec. pp. \_\_\_\_; *see also* Rec. pp. \_\_\_\_ and \_\_\_\_.] With respect to the other two Appellants, their claims are precluded by their failure to exhaust administrative remedies by making application under the Zoning Ordinance for recognition of a grandfathered use. January 27 Order, p. 35 [Rec. p. \_\_\_\_], citing Moore v. Sumter Cty. Council, *supra*, 300 S.C. at 272–73, 387 S.E.2d at 457:

[T]his Court has stated, “[t]he impact of [a] zoning ordinance upon [a given] property cannot be determined [when] the landowner has failed to pursue his administrative remedies by applying for a variance.” Dunbar v. City of Spartanburg, 266 S.C. 113, 221 S.E.2d 848 (1976).

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